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a. LMHS, P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants and Advisors 

To The Stockholders 
Equal Exchange, Inc. 
West Bridgewater, Massachusetts 

Opinion 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Equal Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries, which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 , 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of 
earnings, stockholders ' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Equal Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31 , 2021 and 2020, and the results of 
their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors ' 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of Equal Exchange, Tnc. and Subsidiaries, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion . 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design , 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Equal Exchange, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries' ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the consolidated financial 
statements are issued . 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors ' report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in 
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

AJembt!rs of 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks . Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Equal Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries' internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion 
is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about Equal Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries' ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

U!h, ?.e, 
LMHS, P.C. 
Norwell, Massachusetts 

April 26, 2022 

,Ucmbersof 
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EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 3 L 2021 AND 2020 

2021 2020 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash $ 2,536,886 $ 1,313,440 

Accounts Receivable, Net 4,862,546 5,918,037 

Inventory, Net 25,813 ,685 27,922,484 

Prepaid Corporate Income Taxes 83,998 

Prepaid Expenses and Other 909,162 1,191 ,074 

Deferred Income Taxes 382,000 220,000 
34,588,277 36,565,035 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 6,186,607 7,006,255 

OTHER ASSETS: 
Intangible Assets, Net 3,207 

Investments, Net 209,656 214,656 

Notes Receivable 325 ,000 360,000 
534,656 577,863 

$ 41 ,309,540 $ 44,149,153 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
Notes Payable - Lines of Credit $ 96,947 $ 3,146,031 

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 711 ,242 2,284,918 

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 5,053,871 3,838,808 

Corporate Income Taxes Payable 152,952 332,428 

Patronage Rebates Payable 810,229 218, 125 

6,825 ,241 9,820,310 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES: 
Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion, Net of 

Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs 6,536,596 7,818,008 
Deferred fncome Taxes I , I 00,000 1,000,000 

7,636,596 8,818,008 

MINORITY INTEREST IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 146,736 I 52,233 

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY: 
Preferred Stock 17,322,012 17,265 ,497 
Common Stock 387,528 456,359 

Less: Subscriptions Receivable (24,028) (60,029) 
Retained Earnings 9,036,571 7,705,713 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (21 ,116) (8 ,938) 

26,700,967 25,358,602 
$ 41,309,540 $ 44,149,153 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020 

NET SALES $ 

COST OF SALES 

GROSS PROFIT 

OPERATING EXPENSES : 
Bad Debt Expense 
General and Administrative Expenses 

EARNINGS FROM OPERATIONS 

OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSES): 
Gain (Loss) on Investment 
Interest Income 
Other Income 
Interest Expense 
Gain (Loss) on Foreign Currency Transactions 

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTEREST 

INCOME TAXES: 
Current: 

Federal 
State 

Deferred: 
Federal 
State 

EARNINGS BEFORE MINORITY INTEREST 

MINORITY INTEREST IN EARNlNGS OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 

NET EARNINGS $ 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2021 2020 

72,082,996 $ 77,666,827 

54,421,295 57,742,239 

17,661,701 19,924,588 

37,452 310,706 
17,181,909 17,288,081 

17,2 19,361 17,598,787 

442,340 2,325,801 

2,022 (385,378) 
52,456 41 ,663 

2,041,452 
(393,921) (428, I 00) 

(525) 4,223 
1,701 ,484 (767,592) 

2,143,824 1,558,209 

278,000 
227,648 264,300 
227,648 542,300 

(I 00,000) (33 ,000) 
38,000 76,000 

(62,000) 43 ,000 
165,648 585,300 

1,978,176 972,909 

8,925 (21 ,085) 

1,987, 101 $ 951,824 



Balance, January 1, 2020 $ 

Shares Issued 

Dividends Reinvested 
Shares Redeemed 
Subscriptions Receivable 

Comprehensive Income: 

Net Earnings 
Other Comprehensive: 

Gain (Loss) on Foreign 

Currency Translation 

Comprehensive Income: 

Dividends to Stockholders 

Balance, December 31 , 2020 

Shares Issued 
Dividends Reinvested 

Shares Redeemed 

Subscriptions Receivable 

Comprehensive Income: 

Net Earnings 

Other Comprehensive: 

Gain (Loss) on Foreign 

Currency Translation 
Comprehensive Income: 

Dividends to Stockholders 

Balance, December 3 1, 2021 $ 

EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBS IDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQU ITY 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3 1, 2021 AND 2020 

Preferred Common Subscriptions Retained 

Stock Stock Receivable Earnin!ls 
17,308,0 10 $ 469,776 $ (76,095) $ 7,532,054 

174, 11 2 49,093 

49 1,940 
(708,565) (62,5 I 0) 

16,066 

95 1,824 

9 10 

952,734 

(779,075) 

17,265,497 456,359 (60,029) 7,705,713 

90,339 7,526 
405,098 

(438,922) (76,357) 

36,001 

1,987,101 

1,987, 10 1 

(656,243) 

17,322,0 12 $ 387,528 $ (24,028) $ 9.036,57 1 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Earnin!ls Total 

$ (9 10) $ 25 ,232,835 

223 ,205 

49 1,940 

(77 1,075) 
16,066 

95 1,824 

(8,028) (7, 118) 

(8,028) 944,706 

(779,075) 

(8,938) 25,358.602 

97,865 
405,098 

(5 15,279) 

36,00 1 

1,987, 101 

( 12, 178) ( 12, 178) 

( 12, 178) 1,974,923 

(656.243) 

$ (2 1, 11 6) $ 26,700,967 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSlDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED ST A TEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERA TING ACTIVITIES: 
Net Earnings $ 

Noncash Items Included in Net Earnings: 
Deferred Income Taxes 
Depreciation and Amortization 
Interest Expense 
Gain on Extinguishment of Debt 

(Increase) Decrease in : 
Accounts Receivable, Net 
Inventory, Net 
Prepaid Corporate Income Taxes 
Prepaid Expenses and Other 
Notes Receivable 

Increase (Decrease) in: 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 
Corporate Income Taxes Payable 
Patronage Rebates Payable 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES : 
Additions to Property and Equipment 
Book Value of Property and Equipment Disposed, Net 
Decrease in Investments, Net 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
New Borrowings: 

Notes Payable - Lines of Credit 
Long-Term Debt 

Debt Reduction: 
Notes Payable - Lines of Credit 
Long-Term Debt 

Increase (Decrease) in Minority Interest 
Proceeds From Common Stock Subscriptions 
Proceeds From Issuance of Preferred Stock 
Proceeds From Dividend Reinvestment in Preferred Stock 
Redemption of Preferred Stock 
Redemption of Common Stock 
Preferred Stock Dividend Paid 

Change in Foreign Currency Translation 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

CASH-BEGINNING 
CASH - ENDING $ 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2021 2020 

1,987,101 $ 951 ,824 

(62,000) 43 ,000 
926,295 912,674 

39,430 3,924 
(2,041 ,452) 

1,055,491 859,764 
2, 108,799 (4,337,794) 

(83 ,998) 
281 ,912 263,709 

35,000 

1,215 ,063 (2,048, l 89) 
(179,476) 232,851 
592,104 (157,342) 

5,874,269 (3,275,579) 

(201,716) (2,452,585) 
98,276 385,378 

5,000 93,024 
(98 ,440) (1 ,974,183) 

10,346,966 16,294,553 
5,015,754 

(13 ,396,050) (15,308,250) 
(853 ,066) (144,619) 

(5 ,497) 17,085 
43,527 65,159 
90,339 174,112 

405,098 508,598 
(438,922) (725 ,223) 

(76,357) (62 ,5 I 0) 
(656,243) (779,075) 
(12,178) (7,118) 

{4,552,383) 5,048,466 

1,223,446 (201,296) 

1,313,440 1,514,736 
2,536,886 $ 1,313 ,440 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARlES 
CONSOLIDATED ST A TEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020 
(CONTINUED) 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

2021 
Cash Paid During The Year For: 

Interest $ 315,061 

Income Taxes $ 491 ,122 

Schedule ofNoncash Investing Transactions: 
Investment Loss on Foreign Currency Translation $ (12,178) 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2020 

$ 424,176 
$ 309,449 

$ (8,028) 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

A. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 
1. Principles of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Equal 

Exchange, Inc., its majority-owned subsidiary OKE USA Fruit Company, and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
EE Wholesale (UK) LTD (the Company). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have 
been eliminated in these consolidated financial statements. 

2. Organization - Equal Exchange, Inc. was organized under the General Laws of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts as a worker cooperative and commenced operations in 1986. All voting stock is owned by 
employees of Equal Exchange, Inc., each of whom is limited to one share. Equal Exchange, Inc. distributes 
a portion of its annual profits to the worker-owners as a patronage rebate. Worker-owners may decide to 
extend membership to an employee after one year of service. Equal Exchange, Inc. also offers non-voting 
preferred stock, which pays a variable, noncumulative annual dividend, targeted at five percent of the value 
of the preferred stock. 

OKE USA Fruit Company was incorporated under the laws of the state of Delaware on May 18, 2006. 

EE Wholesale (UK) LTD was incorporated under the laws of the Registrar of Companies for England and 
Wales on April 24, 2017. 

3. Operations - Equal Exchange, Inc. is engaged in the manufacturing and distribution of coffee, tea, cocoa, 
chocolate, and related products nationally, with its main office located at 50 United Drive, West 
Bridgewater, Massachusetts. Equal Exchange, Inc. was formed to establish equitable trade relationships 
between small farmers around the world and U.S. consumers. Equal Exchange, Inc. buys green coffee 
beans directly from farmers' cooperatives and imports the coffee to the United States. Equal Exchange, Inc. 
pays a price that covers the cost of production, provides farmers a living wage, and includes a social 
premium to the cooperative, in accordance with internationally established fair trade practices. Tea, cocoa, 
and chocolate are also purchased according to fair trade practices. Equal Exchange, Inc. performs coffee 
roasting and packaging production at its West Bridgewater, Massachusetts facility. In addition, Equal 
Exchange, Inc. contracts for coffee roasting, cocoa, and chocolate manufacturing and product packaging, 
and sells and distributes its products nationally through distributors, retail stores, restaurants, and solidarity 
organizations. To better serve its customers, Equal Exchange, Inc. purchases and loans coffee grinders, 
brewers, and retail display equipment to its customers. 

OKE USA Fruit Company wholesales produce to customers in the United States while establishing a model 
for international trade that fosters farmer ownership, fair trade practices, and environmental protection. 

EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is based in the UK and is focused on maintaining relationships with small farmer 
cooperatives while trying to build demand for authentic fair trade in a country where the concept has been 
taken over by large players . EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is concentrating on selling to independent natural 
food stores and small chains. 

4. Functional Currency Translation - The functional currency of EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is the Pound 
Sterling (£). The assets and liabilities of the UK subsidiary are translated at year-end rates of exchange, and 
the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income (loss) accounts are translated at 
weighted-average rates of the exchange for the period. The resulting translation adjustments are reported as 
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income within stockholders ' equity. Net foreign 
currency translation gains/(losses) included in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive 
income (loss) amounted to ($12,178) and ($7,118) for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. 
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EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

A. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 
5. Method of Accounting - The Company 's policy is to prepare its consolidated financial statements on the 

accrual method of accounting whereby revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized 
when incurred. This method of accounting conforms to generally accepted accounting principles. 

6. Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations 
of credit risk consist primarily of deposits in excess of federally insured limits, accounts receivable, and 
credit guarantees for certain vendors. These risks are managed by maintaining all deposits in high quality 
financial institutions, obtaining signed sales orders, and/or establishing credit limits with all customers, and 
obtaining signed contracts with vendors. Management believes that the Company is not exposed to any 
significant credit risk as a result of these credit concentrations. 

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents - For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company 
considers all highly liquid investments available for current use with an initial maturity of three months or 
less to be cash equivalents. 

8. Inventory - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. 

9. Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs are 
charged to expense as incurred whereas major betterments are capitalized. Depreciation is computed using 
the straight-line method over three to thirty-nine years . 

10. Intangible Assets - Intangible assets subject to amortization include capitalized software and development 
costs, all of which are amortized using the straight-line method over seven to ten years . 

11. Revenue and Cost Recognition - In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued 
Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Revenue From Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-
09"), which is aimed at creating common revenue recognition guidance for GAAP and the International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). This new guidance provides a comprehensive model for entities 
to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue 
guidance issued by the FASB. ASU 2014-09 also requires both qualitative and quantitative disclosures, 
including descriptions of performance obligations. 

Effective January I, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09 and all related amendments ("ASC 606") 
and applied its provisions to all uncompleted contracts using the modified retrospective basis. The 
application of this new revenue recognition standard resulted in no adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings. 

Performance Obligations - Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when, or as, the Company 
satisfies its performance obligations by transferring goods or services to customers. A good or service is 
transferred to a customer when, or as, the customer obtains control of that good or service. A performance 
obligation may be satisfied over time or at a point in time. Revenue from a performance obligation 
satisfied at a point in time is recognized at the point in time that the Company determines the customer has 
obtained control over the promised good or service. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the 
consideration of which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the promised goods or services. 

9 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

A. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 
The following provides detailed information on the recognition of the Company's revenue from contracts 
with customers: 

Product Sales - The Company is engaged in the manufacturing and distribution of coffee, tea, cocoa, 
chocolate, and related products. Revenue on the sale of these products is recognized when orders are 
shipped. 

The following table disaggregates the Company's revenue based on the timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations for the year ended December 31, 202 l: 

Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point in Time 
Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time 

Total Revenue 

$ 72,082,996 

$ 72,082,996 

12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Company's financial instruments include cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, notes payable, and 
long-term debt. The recorded values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, 
accrued expenses, and notes payable approximate their fair values based on their short-term nature. The 
recorded values of notes receivable and long-term debt approximate their fair values, as current interest 
rates approximate market rates. 

13. Freight - The Company includes freight in as a component of inventory and freight out as part of cost of 
sales. 

14. Income Taxes - The Company exists, for income tax purposes, as three separate entities: Equal Exchange, 
Inc. , OKE USA Fruit Company, and EE Wholesale (UK) LTD. Federal and state income taxes are provided 
based upon earnings and tax rates applicable to the Company using the method of accounting described 
above. 

EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is obliged to file income tax returns within the United Kingdom. 

Deferred income taxes are provided for differences in timing in reporting income for consolidated financial 
statement and tax purposes arising principally from differences in the methods of accounting for 
allowances for bad debts, accrued absences, and depreciation. Bad debts are reported for tax purposes on 
the direct write-off method and for consolidated financial statement purposes on the allowance method. 
Accrued absences are reported for tax purposes on the cash method and for consolidated financial statement 
purposes on the accrual method. Depreciation is reported for tax purposes over shorter periods of time and 
at a more accelerated rate than the method for consolidated financial statement purposes. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets, based upon classification of the related asset or liability . 

15. Uncertainty In Income and Other Taxes - The Company adopted the standards for Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes (income, sales, use, and payroll), which requires the Company to report any 
uncertain tax positions and to adjust its consolidated financial statements for the impact thereof. As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company determined that it had no tax positions that did not meet the 
"more likely than not" threshold of being sustained by the applicable tax authority. The Company files tax 
and information returns in the United States Federal, Massachusetts and other state jurisdictions. These 
returns are generally subject to examination by tax authorities for the last three years. 

10 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

A. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 
16. Sales Tax - The Company excludes from its sales all sales taxes assessed to its customers. Sales taxes 

assessed on sales are recorded as accrued liabilities until remitted to state agencies. 

17. General and Administrative Expenses - These expenses are charged to operations as incurred and are not 
allocated to cost of sales. 

18. Use of Estimates - The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

19. Patronage Rebates - The By-Laws of Equal Exchange, Inc. require it to make a patronage rebate to each 
worker-owner, based on its current year profit. Accordingly, the Company accounts for patronage rebates 
as an increase in operating expenses in the current year. 

20. Debt Issuance Costs - The Company has adopted the requirements in FASB ASC 835-30 to present debt 
issuance costs as a reduction on the carrying amount of the debt rather than as an asset (See Note I). The 
costs are amortized using the interest method over the life of the debt. Amortization of debt issuance costs 
for the years ended December 31 , 2021 and 2020 was $13,731 and $3 ,924, respectively, and is reported in 
interest expense on the consolidated statements of earnings. 

B. ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS: 
The Company utilizes the allowance method to account for uncollectible accounts receivable balances. Under 
the allowance method, an estimate of uncollectible customer balances is made based on the Company' s prior 
history and other factors such as the credit quality of the customer and economic conditions of the market. 
Based on these factors, at December 31 , 2021 and 2020, there was an allowance for doubtful accounts of 
$200,000 and $307,041, respectively . 

C. INVENTORY, NET: 
Inventory consists of the following as of December 31,: 

Unprocessed green coffee beans, bananas and avocados 
Processed coffee, tea, cocoa, chocolate, snacks and supplies 
Less : Obsolescence Reserve 

D. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET: 
Property and Equipment consists of the following as of December 31 ,: 

Land 
Building and Improvements 
Coffee Roasting and Packaging Equipment 
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment and Software 

Accumulated Depreciation 
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2021 
$ 12,037,487 

13,850,756 
(74,558) 

$25,81 3,685 

2021 
$ 502,688 

6,098,851 
6,644,547 
4 ,860,517 

18,106,603 
(11,919,996) 

$ 6,186,607 

2020 
$ 15,692,029 

12,329,434 
(98,979) 

$ 27,922,484 

2020 
$ 502,688 

6,140,541 
6,621,719 
4 ,917 760 

18,182,708 
(11,176,453) 

$ 7,006,255 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

E. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET: 
Intangible assets consist of the following as of December 31 ,: 

Capitalized Software and Development Costs, 
Net of Accumulated Amortization of $16,197 and $12,990 in 
2021 and 2020, respectively. 

2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 3,207 

In accordance with F ASB ASC 350-40-30-1, the Company capitalized the costs associated with establishing a 
cooperative supply chain referred to as P6. These costs include software development, product branding, 
website design and launch, brochure production, legal costs, and marketing initiatives. 

F. INVESTMENTS, NET: 
The Company holds investments in various other similar, fair-trade or socially conscious organizations. All 
investments are carried at the lower of cost or estimated market value. Investments consist of the following at 
December 31,: 

Liberation Foods, Community Interest Company, UK 
CERO Cooperative, Inc. - 200 Preferred Shares 
National Cooperative Bank N. A., Federal Savings Bank -
220 Shares Class 8 
Real Pickles Co-op - Preferred Stock 
RIA Brewing, Inc. 
LaSiembra - 11 ,843 Shares Class A and 782 Shares Class C 
Dorchester Food Coop 
STARTCOOP LCA 
General Reserve 

G. NOTES RECEIVABLE: 
Notes Receivable consist of the following at December 31,: 

5.00% Promissory Note Receivable - Norandino: 
Interest only payments to October, 2022. 

6.00% Promissory Note Receivable - La Siembra: 
Interest only payments to July, 2025. This note is 
collateralized by certain intellectual property 
of the borrower. 
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2021 
$ 1,360 

5,000 

21,997 
5,000 

192,323 
10,000 
5,000 

(31 ,024) 
$ 209,656 

2021 

$ 

325,000 
$ 325,000 

2020 
$ 10,336 

5,000 

21,997 
5,000 
5,000 

I 92,323 
10,000 
5,000 

(40,000) 
$ 214,656 

2020 

$ 35,000 

325,000 
$ 360,000 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

H. NOTES PAYABLE- LINES OF CREDIT: 
Equal Exchange, Inc. has a $1,500,000 unsecured rolling credit facility with Shared Interest, a socially 
responsible organization based in the United Kingdom. The purpose of this credit facility is to finance 
purchases from small farmer associations approved by Shared Interest. Under the terms of this credit facility, 
Shared Interest pays producers for coffee shipped to the Company. The Company is required to repay Shared 
Interest in full within five months following the settlement date. Advances bear interest at the borrowing rate of 
Shared Interest, plus one percent, 7.75% and 8.25% at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. This credit 
facility may be terminated upon 180 days ' notice. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the outstanding balances on 
this rolling credit facility amounted to $96,947 and $152,532, respectively. 

Equal Exchange, Inc. had a $500,000 secured line of credit with Eastern Bank. The line of credit bears interest 
at the bank's prime lending rate and is secured by certificates of deposit held by Eastern Bank that are owned by 
individuals and institutions affiliated with the Company. The Company can borrow up to ninety percent of the 
face value of the certificates of deposit. During 2021 , the line of credit was closed. At December 31 , 2021 and 
2020, there were no borrowings on this line of credit. 

Equal Exchange, Inc. has a $2,500,000 line of credit with National Cooperative Bank N. A. This line of credit 
bears interest at the bank's prime rate plus fifty basis points and is secured by accounts receivable. At December 
31, 2021 and 2020, the outstanding balances on this line of credit amounted to zero and $350,000, respectively. 

Equal Exchange, Inc. has a $5 ,000,000 line of credit with Eastern Bank. This line of credit bears interest at the 
bank's prime lending rate and is secured by the Company's inventory. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the 
outstanding balances on this line of credit amounted to zero and $2,643,499, respectively . 

OKE USA Fruit Company has a $500,000 line of credit with Eastern Bank. This line of credit bears interest at 
the bank's base rate and is secured by substantially all assets ofOKE USA Fruit Company. At December 31 , 
2021 and 2020, there were no borrowings on this line of credit. 

I. LONG-TERM DEBT: 
Long-Term Debt consists of the following at December 31,: 

4.50% Note Payable - Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation: 

3.00% 
to 

5.00% 

Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon payment 
due May, 2023. 

Notes Payable - Various Individuals and Institutions: 
Due in annual or semi-annual interest-only payments, with 
balloon payments due at varying maturity dates through 
December, 2023. 

4.50% Note Payable - Cooperative Fund ofNE: 
Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon payment 
due April, 2024. 

5.00% Note Payable - Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation: 
Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon payment 
due May, 2024. 
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2021 2020 

$ 100,000 $ 100,000 

1,310,000 2,010,000 

500,000 500,000 

100,000 100,000 



I. 

EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

LONG-TERM DEBT: (Continued) 
2021 2020 

4.50% Mortgage Note Payable - RSF Social Enterprise: 
Due in monthly installments of $11,254 including 
interest through June, 2024. 1,637,563 1,695,362 

1.00% Loan Payable - PPP Loan - Eastern Bank: 
Due in monthly installments of $2,174 including 
interest through October, 2025. 130,445 

1.00% Loan Payable - PPP Loan - Eastern Bank: 
Due in monthly installments of $92,993 including 
interest through October, 2025 . 1,885,308 

4.14% Note Payable - Eastern Bank: 
Due in monthly installments of$10,220 including 
interest through June, 2027. 600,275 695,542 

3.00% Note Payable - DCS Trust: 
Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon payment 
due March, 2035. 3,000,000 3,000,000 

Principal Amount 7,247,838 10,116,657 
Less Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs (13,731) 

7,247,838 10,102,926 
Current Portion (711,242) (2,284,918) 
Long-Term Debt, Net of Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs $ 6,536,596 $ 7,818,008 

On April 15, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds from Eastern Bank in the amounts of$1 ,885,308 and 
$130,445 under the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP"). The PPP, established as part of the Coronavirus Aid, 
Relief and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act"), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up 
to 2.5 times the average qualifying monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The loans and accrued 
interest are forgivable as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll , 
benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels . The amount of loan forgiveness will be reduced if 
the borrower is unable to re-hire to the same employment level on or before December 31 , 2020, reduces 
salaries during the covered period, or uses more than forty percent of the money spent on non-employment 
expenses. 

On July 21, 2021 and June 4, 2021 , the Company was granted forgiveness from the Small Business 
Administration (SBA) for the full loan balances of $1 ,885,308 and accrued interest of $24,195 and $130,445 
and accrued interest of$1,504, respectively . The SBA has remitted the payments noted above for forgiveness to 
Eastern Bank. In accordance with ASC 470, Debt, the forgiven debt is recorded as a gain on extinguishment of 
debt, and is presented in the other income section of the consolidated statements of earnings. 
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EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

I. LONG-TERM DEBT: (Continued) 
The following is a schedule by years of the aggregate maturities of indebtedness at December 31,: 

2022 $ 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 and Thereafter 

$ 

J. MlNORITY INTEREST IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES: 

711,242 
618,906 

2,628,968 
112,597 

3,176,125 
7,247,838 

An ownership interest of 7.5% in the subsidiaries is held by unrelated parties. This interest, reflected on the 
consolidated balance sheets as a separate line item, is the summation of the net investments made by these 
unrelated parties plus their proportionate share of the inception-to-date earnings and loss, and is not necessarily 
reflective of its market value. 

K. CAPITAL STRUCTURE: 
I. Preferred Stock 
The Company has a single class of non-voting Class B preferred stock. These shares have a par value of $1 and 
a face value of$27.50, and are sold to individuals and organizations. The Company pays annual cash dividends, 
targeted at five percent of the face value of the preferred stock. The actual amount is declared annually by the 
Board of Directors based on Company performance. The dividend is non-cumulative. The preferred shares have 
a dissolution preference equal to their face value. 

Stockholders owning preferred stock may, beginning two years after the original purchase date, sell their 
preferred stock back to the Company in accordance with the following schedule: 

After year 2 - at 70% of face value 
After year 3 - at 80% of face value 
After year 4 - at 90% of face value 
After year 5 - at 100% of face value 

In 2014, the Board of Directors authorized and approved a Private Placement in which the corporation intended 
to raise up to $5 ,000,000 through the sale of Class B Preferred Stock. Although there were no offerings in place 
during these periods, the Company did record the following transactions in 2021 : Issued 14,731 shares valued at 
$405,098 in reinvested dividends and converted fifty percent of its Patronage distribution to 3,285 shares valued 
at $90,339. During 2020, the Company recorded the following transactions: Issued 17,889 shares valued at 
$491,940 in reinvested dividends and converted fifty percent of its Patronage distribution to 6,331 shares valued 
at $174,112. Redemptions for 2021 and 2020 were 15,961 shares valued at $438,922 and 25,766 shares valued 
at $708,565, respectively . 

All stock subscription agreements referred to above were executed in accordance with the rules and regulations 
under Section 3(b) of Regulation D, Rule 506 of the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the 
Securities Act of 1933. 

The Company has the option of making the redemptions described above by converting the preferred shares to 
five-year, five percent promissory notes. 
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EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

K. CAPITAL STRUCTURE: (Continued) 
If at any time the debt-to-equity ratio of the Company (defined as the Company 's total liabilities divided by the 
Company's total stockholders' equity) exceeds 2:1, the Board of Directors may postpone or refuse a request for 
redemption. In addition, if at any time the Board of Directors determines that a requested redemption would 
impair the ability of the Company to operate effectively, the Board of Directors may limit, postpone or refuse 
the requested redemption. 

The face value of preferred stock, eligible for redemption under the terms described above, are as follows for 
the year ending December 31 ,: 

2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 and Thereafter 

2. Common Stock 

$16,986,015 
160,959 
102,553 
37,006 
35,479 

$ 17,322,012 

The Company has a single class of voting Class A common stock, referred to as membership shares. Class A 
common shares have a $1 par value and are sold at a price equal to $2,000 per share, plus inflation since 1990. 
In 2021 and 2020, the price per share was $3,842 and $3,797, respectively. After one year ' s service, and absent 
denial of membership by 20% of the existing members, employees of the Company may purchase one 
membership share. No individual may own more than one membership share. No dividends are paid on these 
shares, but the employees who hold them are eligible for patronage rebates. 

3. Common Stock Subscriptions Receivable 
Members usually choose to pay for their membership share through payroll deductions over several years. The 
Company issues the membership share immediately and credits the common stock account for the full issue 
price of the share; unpaid amounts due from the member are recorded as Common Stock Subscriptions 
Receivable, which are separately reflected as a reduction to Stockholders ' Equity. 

4. Preferred Stock Transactions 
Total 

Premium Paid In on 
# of Par Over Par Preferred 

Shares Value Value Stock 
Balance, December 31 , 2019 629,382 $ 629,382 $ 16,678,628 $ 17,308,010 

Shares issued for cash 6,331 6,331 167,781 174,112 
Dividends Reinvested 17,889 17,889 474,051 491,940 
Shares Redeemed and Other 
Adjustments (25 ,766) (25,766) (682,799) (708,565) 

Balance, December 31 , 2020 627,836 $ 627,836 $ 16,637,661 $ 17,265,497 

Shares issued for cash 3,285 3,285 87,054 90,339 
Dividends Reinvested 14,731 14,731 390,367 405,098 
Shares Redeemed and Other 
Adjustments (15,961) (15,961) (422,961) (438,922) 

Balance December 31, 2021 629,891 $ 629,891 $ 16,692,121 $17,322,012 
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EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

K. CAPITAL STRUCTURE: (Continued) 

L. 

M. 

The Board of Directors has authorized and the articles have been amended to increase the number of both 
common and preferred shares to 500 and 9,999,500, respectively. 

5. Common Stock Transactions 
Total 

Premium Paid In on 
# of Par Over Par Common 

Shares Value Value Stock 
Balance, December 31, 2019 145 $ 145 $ 469,631 $ 469,776 

Shares issued for subscriptions 
receivable 13 13 49,080 49,093 
Shares redeemed for cash (18) (18) (62,492) (62,510) 

Balance, December 31, 2020 140 $ 140 $ 456,219 $ 456,359 

Shares issued for subscriptions 
receivable 3 3 7,523 7,526 
Shares redeemed for cash (24) (24) (76,333) (76,357) 
Balance, December 31 , 2021 119 $ 119 $ 387,409 $ 387,528 

INCOME TAXES: 
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with F ASB ASC 740, whereby deferred taxes are 
provided for temporary differences arising from assets and liabilities whose bases are different for financial 
reporting and income tax purposes. Deferred taxes relate primarily to differences in calculating depreciation on 
fixed assets and the timing of deductibility of certain other operating expenses. 

PATRONAGE REBATES: 
The By-Laws of Equal Exchange, Inc. require it to make an annual patronage rebate to each worker-owner. The 
patronage rebate is calculated at forty percent of the net profit or loss, after state income taxes and preferred 
stock dividend payments, but before charitable donations and federal income taxes. The rebate is then adjusted 
to reflect the ratio of hours worked by worker-owners to hours worked by all employees. Each year, the Board 
of Directors determines the allocation of the patronage rebate between payments in cash versus deferral held in 
the worker-owners' capital accounts, subject to a requirement that at least twenty percent be paid in cash. 
Profits not paid as dividends on preferred stock or as patronage rebates are retained to capitalize the business, 
and are not allocated to any individual worker-owners. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
patronage rebate expense amounted to $802,758 and $215 ,367, respectively . 

N. ADVERTISING AND BUSINESS PROMOTION: 
The Company follows the policy of charging the costs of advertising and business promotion to expense as 
incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, advertising costs amounted to $1,184,404 and 
$1,060,945, respectively . 

0. CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS: 
The Company makes charitable contributions to unrelated tax exempt organizations that promote Fair Trade 
Industry activities. For the years ended December 31 , 2021 and 2020, charitable contributions amounted to 
$105,800 and $145,740, respectively . 
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EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

P. OPERA TING LEASES: 
The Company leases distribution and retail space in Massachusetts, Minnesota, Ohio, Oregon, Washington and 
Wisconsin for terms in excess of one year. Rent expense for the years ended December 3 I, 2021 and 2020 
amounted to $440,531 and $382,844, respectively. 

The following is a schedule by years of the future minimum lease payments as of December 31,: 

2022 
2023 
2024 

Q. GUARANTEE OF PRODUCER INDEBTEDNESS: 

$ 553,944 
385,766 
134,796 

$ 1,074,506 

Shared Interest has committed up to $500,000 for advances directly to producers with contracts to sell coffee to 
the Company. These advances are limited to sixty percent of the contract price, with a maximum amount per 
producer of $135,000, and are available to producers up to ten months before coffee is delivered to the 
Company. The Company guarantees 25% of the producer advances made by Shared Interest. At December 31, 
2021 and 2020, producer advances guaranteed by the Company amounted to $24,237 and to $152,531, 
respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company incurred losses of zero and 
$71 ,001, respectively, related to guaranteed producer advances. 

R. RETIREMENT PLAN: 
The Company sponsors a Safe Harbor 40 l(k) Retirement Plan for its eligible employees. To become eligible for 
the Plan, an employee must have completed one full year of continuous employment. For the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company contributed 3% of each eligible employee's annual compensation. 
For the years ended December 31 , 2021 and 2020, the Company's contribution to this plan totaled $211,562 and 
$233,769, respectively. These amounts are included in Payroll Taxes and Employee Benefits. 

S. MAJOR CUSTOMER: 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had one major customer, to which sales 
accounted for approximately 12% and 13% of the Company's revenue, respectively . At December 31, 2021 and 
2020, accounts receivable from this customer represented approximately 9% and 12% respectively, of the total 
accounts receivable balance. 

T. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: 
Management has evaluated events occurring after the consolidated balance sheet date through April 26, 2022, 
the date in which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a public health emergency. The 
declaration has a potential impact on the Company and its customers from production delays, contract stoppages 
or decreases, and other. Significant work stoppages and an economic slowdown has impacted not only the 
United States, but the worldwide economy. Management is unable to estimate the impact that this public health 
emergency will have on the Company's financial position or its operating results and accordingly, no 
adjustments have been made to the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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-a. LMHS, P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants and Advisors 

To The Stockholders 
Equal Exchange, Inc. 
West Bridgewater, Massachusetts 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ' REPORT 
ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMA TTON 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Equal Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of and for the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and have issued our report thereon dated April 26, 2022, which 
contained an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. Our audits were performed for the 
purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

The supplementary information is presented for the purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of 
the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the 
consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial 
statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is 
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole . 

~Pl#£, 'PC. 
LMHS, P.C. 
Norwell , Massachusetts 

April 26, 2022 

80 Washington Screec, Bui lding S, Norwell, Massachuseccs 02061 (781) 878-9111 FX (78 I) 878-3666 
Members of 

www.lmhspc.com _ AICPAj 



CURRENT ASSETS: 
Cash 
Accounts Receivable, Net 
Inventory, Net 
Prepaid Corporate Income Taxes 
Prepaid Expenses and Other 
Deferred Income Taxes 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT: 
Land 
Bui ldi ng and Improvements 
Coffee Roasting and Packaging Equipment 
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment and Software 

Accumulated Depreciation 

OTHER ASSETS: 
Investments, Net 
Notes Receivable 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
Notes Payab le - Lines of Credit 
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 
Accounts Payab le and Accrued Expenses 
Corporate Income Taxes Payable 
Patronage Rebates Payable 

LONG-TERM LIABILITI ES: 
Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion, Net of 

Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs 
Deferred Income Taxes 

EQUAL EXCHANGE INC. AND SUBSTDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31 202 1 

EQUAL OKEUSA EE WHOLESALE 
EXCHANGE INC. FRUIT COMPANY /UK)LTD 

ASSETS 

$ 1,6 10,160 $ 750,999 $ 175,727 
3,76 I ,262 87 1,0 11 230,273 

24,969,329 513,49 1 330,865 
83,998 

882,057 12,7 15 14,390 
382,000 

3 1,604,808 2,232,214 75 1,255 

502,688 
6,098,85 1 
6,644,547 
4,745 ,844 111 .450 3,223 

17,99 1,930 111 ,450 3,223 
(1 1,894,483) (22 ,290) (3,223) 

6,097,447 89, 160 

2,2 10,370 
575,000 

2,785 ,370 
$ 40,487,625 $ 2,32 1,374 $ 751 ,255 

LIAB ILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

$ 96,947 $ $ 
7 11 ,242 250,000 

4,384,145 483,52 1 174,172 
147,499 5,453 
8 10,229 

6,150,062 733,52 1 179,625 

6,536,596 3 10,244 
1,100,000 
7,636,596 3 10,244 

MINORITY INTEREST IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY: 
Class A Shares 580,639 
Class B Shares 175,000 
Class C Shares 27,000 
Preferred Stock 17,322,0 12 
Common Stock 387,528 90,239 

Less: Subscriptions Receivable (24,028) 
Retained Earn ings 9,036,571 805,2 14 166,126 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (21 , 11 6) 5,02 1 

26,700,967 1,587,853 26 1,386 
$ 40,487,625 $ 2,321,374 $ 75 1,255 

See Independent Auditors' Report on Supplementary Information 
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CONSOLIDATING CONSOLIDATED 
ENTRIES BALANCE SHEET 

$ $ 2,536,886 
4,862,546 

25,813,685 
83 ,998 

909, 162 
382,000 

34,588,277 

502,688 
6,098,85 1 
6,644,547 
4,860,5 17 

18,106,603 
( 11 ,9 19,996) 

6,186,607 

(2,000,714) 209 ,656 
(250,000) 325,000 

(2,250,7 14) 534,656 
$ (2,250,7 14) $ 4 1,309,540 

$ $ 96,947 
(250,000) 711 ,242 

12,033 5,053 ,87 1 
152,952 
810,229 

(237,967) 6,825,24 1 

(3 10,244) 6,536,596 
I , I 00,000 

(3 10,244) 7,636,596 

146,736 146,736 

(580,639) 
( 175,000) 

(27,000) 
17,322,0 I 2 

(90.239) 387,528 
(24,028) 

(97 1,340) 9,036 ,57 1 
(5,02 1) [2 1, 11 6) 

( 1,849,239) 26,700,967 
$ (2,250,714) $ 41 ,309,540 



NET SALES 

COST OF SALES : 
Purchases 
Freight 
Utilities 
Warehouse Occupancy Costs 
Depreciation 

GROSS PROFIT 

OPERATING EXPENSES: 
Salaries and Wages 
Payroll Taxes and Employee Benefits 
Advertising and Business Promotion 
Bad Debt Expense 
Certification Fees 
Charitable Contributions 
Consulting Expense 
Contracted Services 

Credit Card Service Fees 
General and Administrative 
Insurance 

Office Expense 
Patronage Rebates 
Payroll Processing Fees 
Postage 

Professional Fees 
Real Estate Taxes 
Rent 
Repairs and Maintenance 
Selling Expenses 
Telephone 
Utilities 
Amortization 

Depreciation 

EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 

OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSES): 
Gain (Loss) on Investment 
Interest Income 
Other Income 
Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries 
Interest Expense 

Gain (Loss) on Foreign Currency Transactions 

EQUAL EXCHANGE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 3 1 202 1 

EQUAL OKE USA 
EXCHANGE INC. FRUIT COMPANY 

$ 54,962 ,647 $ 15,118,023 

34,497,075 11 ,456,902 
3,329,130 2,790,404 

148,253 
120,927 
378,448 

38,473,833 14,247,306 

16,488,814 870 ,717 

7,2 13,720 653,929 
2,192,633 161 ,352 
1,139,164 2 1,057 

14,186 23,266 
119,17 1 6,976 

105,800 
24,606 

698,636 
279,133 8,460 
279,096 37,50 1 
207, 123 16,882 
229,203 53 ,6 16 
802,758 
27,042 3,023 

11 3,154 1,105 
55 ,2 10 

120,47 1 

420,383 20,148 
899,79 1 
126,737 
176,740 
157,528 

3,206 
522,35 1 22,290 

15,848,026 1,109,42 1 

640,788 (238,704) 

2,022 
52,056 400 

1,909,503 131,949 
(77,993) 

(381 ,275) (12 ,646) 

1,504,3 I 3 119,703 

EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTEREST 2,145 ,10 1 ( 11 9,001) 

INCOME TAXES : 
Cun-cnt 220,000 
Deferred (62 ,000) 

158,000 

EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE MINORITY INTEREST 1,987,10 1 ( I 19,00 1) 

MINORITY INTEREST IN EARNINGS OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 

NET EARNINGS (LOSS) $ 1,987,101 $ (119,00 1) 

EE WHOLESALE 
(UK)LTD 

$ 2,002,326 

1,573 ,095 
127,06 1 

1,700,156 

302,170 

101 ,145 
8,948 

24,183 

18,036 

52,580 

49,826 
7, 196 

261 ,9 14 

40,256 

(525) 
(525) 

39,73 1 

7,648 

7,648 

32,083 

$ 32 ,083 

See Independent Auditors' Report on Supplementary Information 
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CONSOLIDATING CONSOLIDATED 
ENTRIES EARNINGS 

$ $ 72 ,082,996 

47,527,072 
6,246,595 

148,253 
120,927 
378,448 

54 ,421 ,295 

17,66 1,701 

7,968,794 
2,362,933 
I, I 84 ,404 

37,452 
144,183 

I 05,800 
24,606 

75 1,216 
287,593 
366,423 
23 1,201 
282 ,8 19 
802 ,758 
30 ,065 

I 14,259 

55 ,2 10 
120,47 1 
440,53 1 

899,79 1 
126 ,737 
176 ,740 
157 ,528 

3,206 
544,64 1 

17,2 19,36 1 

442 ,340 

2,022 
52 ,456 

2,04 1,452 
77,993 

(393,92 !) 

(525) 
77,993 1,70 1,484 

77,993 2,143 ,824 

227 ,648 
(62 ,000) 
165 ,648 

77,993 1,978 ,176 

8,925 8,925 

$ 86,9 18 $ 1,987, 10 1 



EQUAL EXCHANGE. fNC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENT ARY INFORMATION 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2021 AND 2020 

CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULES OF COST OF SALES: 
Purchases 
Freight 
Utilities 
Warehouse Occupancy Costs 
Depreciation 

CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULES OF GENERAL AND ADMfNISTRA TIVE EXPENSES : 
Salaries and Wages 
Payroll Taxes and Employee Benefits 
Advertising and Business Promotion 
Certification Fees 
Charitable Contributions 
Consulting Expense 
Contracted Services 
Credit Card Service Fees 
General and Administrative 

Insurance 
Office Expense 
Patronage Rebates 
Payroll Processing Fees 
Postage 
Professional Fees 
Real Estate Taxes 
Rent 
Repairs and Maintenance 
Selling Expenses 
Telephone 
Utilities 
Amortization 
Depreciation 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2021 

47,527,072 
6,246,595 

148,253 
120,927 
378,448 

54,421,295 

7,968,794 
2,362,933 
I , 184,404 

144,183 
105,800 
24,606 

751 ,216 
287,593 
366,423 

231 ,201 
282,819 
802,758 

30,065 
114,259 
55,210 

120,471 
440,531 
899,791 
126,737 
176,740 
157,528 

3,206 
544,641 

17, 181 ,909 

See Independent Auditors' Report on Supplementary Information 
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2020 

$ 50,778,763 
6,226,428 

202,687 
240,848 
293,513 

$ 57,742,239 

$ 9,083 ,032 
2,559,429 
1,060,945 

151,697 
145,740 

7,644 
862,771 
285,730 
159,153 

163,869 
254,763 
215 ,367 

32,710 
26,783 
13,799 
96,304 

382,844 
724,485 
112, 108 
193,356 
136,391 

404 
6 I 8,757 

$ 17,288,081 
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I II The S1ockhnldcr~ 
Equal I ,..,h,mgc. Im; 
We~t Bridgewater. MJss.ichu~cus 

Opinio11 

We have audited the consolidated financial ~tate1'1ents of Equal h xchange. Inc. and Suh~idiarics, which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 1 I, 20.22 and 2021. and the re lated consolidated statements of 
earnings, stockholders· equity. and cash tlov.s for the years then t:nded. and the related notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

In our opinion. the accompanying con~olidated financial ~tatements present fairly. m all material respects. the 
financial position of Equal Exchange, Inc. and Subs1diancs as of December 31. 2022 and 2021. and the results of 
their operations and their cash flows for the ) cars then ended in ac(;ordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Ba~i.1for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GA;\S). Our responsibilitie, under tho~e standards arc further described in the Auditors• 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the l· ina11c1al Statements section or our report. We are required to be 
independent of Equal Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance ,, ith the relevant ethical requirements relatmg to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to prO\ ide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Respo11sibilitie.,· of ,',fa11ageme11tfor the Fina11c:ia/ Stuteme11t.1· 

\,lanagement is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consohdated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally a<.:ceptcd rn the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation. and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statement~. mnnagemenl is required to evaluate whether there arc 
conditions or e\'~nts, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about F.qual Exchange, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries' ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the consoltdated financial 
statements arc issued. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the ,tut/it of tl,e Fi11anci(I/ St11teme111.~ 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about \\ hether the consoltdated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error. and to issue an auditors· report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore rs not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAA <; will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulling from fraud is l11gher than for one re5ulting 
from error. a~ fraud may involve collusion, forgery. intentional omissions. mi~representations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements arc considcre::d material if there i5 a substantial likelihood that, individually or in 
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made b) a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial 
statement~. 

80W2shing1on Sircc1, Anil.ling.S. Norwell. Mas.<ad1mc11> D2D6I (78 1) 878.•)I 11 ~'( (781) 1178-3666 www.lml1Spt.mm 
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In performing an audit in accordance with G \/\ ~- we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and mc1intain professional sl..epticism throughout the audit. 
• ldcnufy and assess the risl-.s ol material misstatement of the consolidated financial stalt:mcnts. whether 

due to fraud or error. and design and perform audit pro<.:cdurcs rcsponsi\c to tho~t: risks. Such 
procedures include examining. on u test basis, c, idcncc regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statement~. 

• Obt.iin an undcr~tanding of intern.ii control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
arc appropriate in the circumstances. hut not for the purpose of exprt:ssmg an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Equal Exchange. Inc. and Subsidiaries ' internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion 
is e!lpresscd. 

• !'valuate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management. as well as evaluate the overall prcscmalion of the 
consolidated financial statements 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment. !here are cunditiuns ur events. considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about Equal E'<changc, Inc. and Subsidiaries· ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to 1:ommunicntc \\ ith those ch,irged with governance regarding. among other matters. the 
planned scope and timing of the audit. s1gnilicant audit findings. and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

I/Ill// 1(1 
I.Mil~. P.C. 
Nom.:11. t-.. fassachusclls 

April 26. 2023 

80Washi11~1on Sm·c1. lluildi11l\S, Norwdl. MassA<l111<n<S(Jl\)(,I (7!1 1) 87/l-9111 l'X (7Rl) 87!!-J6(,(, w,V\v.lmh,(l<'.cnm AICPA) 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. A1'D c;;t "BSIDIARlES 

CONSOLIDATED BALA~CE SHEETS 
DITE.MRI· R 31, 2022 A>;D 2021 

20?2 2021 

t\SSE'l S 
CURRF'l f ASSE IS : 

Cash s 97 1.675 s 2.536,886 

Accounts Recc1vablt:. Net 4,238.069 4.862.5~6 

Inventory, Net 28,215,072 25,813.685 

Prepaid Corporate Income T J:-.es 89.634 83,998 

Prepaid Expenses and Other 1,437,967 909. 162 

Defem:d Income Taxes 345,000 382,000 
15,297,417 34,588,277 

PROPERTY Al\D EQ LJJPlVIF.NT, 1':FT 6,054,111 6,186,607 

OTHER ASSETS: 
Right of Use Asset - LedSe<; 76,305 

Goodwill. 'lei 16,719 

Investments. '\Jet 407.076 209,656 
Note<; Receivable 325,000 325.000 

825,100 534,656 
s 42,176.628 s 41.309.540 

LIABILITIES AND s l'OCKI IOLDERS' l_&UI rv 

ClJRRE'\JT LIABTI ITIFS· 
Notes Payable - Lines of Credit $ 2.645,000 s 96.947 

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 536,148 711,242 

Current Portion of Lease Liability 62.844 

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expen<;es 4,363,738 5,05],87 I 

Corporate Income Taxes Payable 258,664 152,952 

Patronage Rebates Payable 164,829 810.229 
8.031,223 6.825,241 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES: 

Long-Term Debt. :-Jct of Current Portion, ~et of 
Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs 6,621, I 89 6,536,596 

Lease Liability. Net of Current Portion 13.461 

Deferred Income Taxes 1,100,000 1,100,000 

7,734,650 7,636,596 

\11NORITY INTEREST Jr,,. CONc;;OI !DATED SUBSIDIARIES 146,737 146,736 

STOCKI IOLDrns· [QUITY: 
Preferred Stock 17,007,337 17,322.012 

Common Stock 384,286 387.528 

Less: Subscriptions Receivable (32,396) (24,028) 

Retained Earnings 8.<>50, 110 9,036,571 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (45,319) (21,116) 

26.264,018 26,700.967 
s 42.176,628 s 41,309,540 

Sec J\:otes to Consolidated 1-inoncial Statements 
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1-.0UAL EXCIIANGE. NC. A1'D SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EAR:-.JINGS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2022 AT\D 2021 

NET SALES ~ 

COST OF SALES 

GROSS PROFIT 

OPERA flNG EXPENSES. 
Bad Debt Expense 

General and Admimstrativc Expenses 

EAR1':JNGS FROM OPERATIO;-.'S 

OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSES): 

Gain (Loss) on Investment 

Inic:rest Income 
Other Income 

Interest Expense 

Gain (Loss) on Foreign Cum:ncy Transactions 

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND Ml\ORITY INTEREST 

INCOME TAXES: 

Current: 

Federal 

State 

Deferred· 
Federal 

State 

EARNINGS BEFORE Ml ~ ORITY INTFREST 

MINORITY INTEREST IN EAR\;JNCiS 01- ('ONSOl.lDATFD SURSIDIARlfS 

NET bAR'II NGS $ 

See Notes lo Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2022 2021 

69.,01.450 $ 72,082,996 

51.082,779 54.421.295 

18.218,671 17,661,701 

24,113 37,452 
17.060,563 17.181,909 
17,084,876 17.219,361 

I, 133,795 442.340 

48,620 2.022 
89,822 52,456 

1,849 2.041,452 
(392.385) (393,921 J 

{260) (525) 
(252,354) 1,701,484 

881.441 2,143,824 

40.000 
229,828 227.648 
269,828 227.648 

13,000 (100,000 ) 

24.000 38.000 
37,000 (62,000) 

306.828 165,648 

574,613 1,978,176 

( I ) 8,925 

574.612 5 1.987, IO I 



13alancc. January I, 2021 s 

Shares Issued 

[)ivi<knds Reinvested 

Shares Redeemed 
Sulmriptions Rccdvahlc 

C'omprchensi,·c Income: 
Net Earnings 
Other Comprehensive: 

Gain (Loss) on Foreign 

Currency Transl al ion 
Comprehensive Income: 

Dividend.~ to Stockhohlcrs 

Balance. Oeccmber 31. 2021 

Shares !~sued 
Dividends Rdnvcslcd 
Shares R.:dccmcd 
Subscriptions Rccc:ivahlc 

Comprehensive Income: 

Ncl Earnings 
Other Comprchcnsiv~· 

Gain (Loss) on For<!ign 

Currcnc~ rranslation 
Comprehensive Income· 

Di~·i<knds lo Stockholders 

Balance:, Dccc:111hcr 31. 2022 $ 

l'<lU/\L EXCII/\Nlil' INC ,\'ll) )l B')ID1AKII) 
CONSOI.ID/\TED ST/\ l'EMEN rs OI- SH)( ·1--1 IOI Dl·RS' EOI 11 Y 

YEARS ENDED rn:c EMlffR 31. 2022 A \;I) 2021 

J>rdi:rrcd c·ommun <;ut>scnplmns Retained 

Stock Stork Rm;1,ahk [aminiis 
17.265,497 s 456.359 $ (60,0291 \ 7.705.713 

90JJ9 7.526 
405,098 

(438.922) (76.357) 

36.001 

1.987.10 I 

1.987.101 

1656.243) 

17.322.012 3R7.52R 124 0281 9,036,571 

392.007 -10,250 
407,003 

l 1.113.6851 (43.-192) 
(8.368) 

574,612 

574.612 

((,<,1.073\ 

17,007.337 s 384,286 s (32.3%) s l!,950. \ 10 

Sec Notes to Con~olida1~d rmanctal '\lJlcmcnts 

s 

1\ccumul.11cd 

Other 
( 'omprchcnsivc 

Farmn~s T<1t.1l 

s (1:1.938) $ 25 3511.602 

97 865 

405.09!! 
(515,279) 

36.001 

1,987.101 

112.178) l 12 178) 
0 2. 17l!) 1,974.923 

(656.243) 

(21.1161 26.700.967 

·132,257 
407,003 

(1,157.177) 
~8)68) 

57-1,612 

(24,203) (24.203) 
(24,203) 550.409 

(661.073\ 

$ (45,319) $ 26,26-1,018 



E'OUAL EXCIJA~GE,. l},C. i\l\D SuBSIDl,\Rll;S 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASI I FLOWS 

Yfuill.S ENDED DECFtvlBl'.R 3 1. ::?02::? AI\D ::?O::? 1 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATll\U /\C IWITIES: 
Net Earnings s 
Noncash Items Included in Net Earnings· 

Deferrc:d Income Taxes 
Depreciation and Amortization 
Interest Expense 
Gain nn Extingmshmenl of Debt 

(Increase) Decrease in: 
Accounts Receivable, \let 
Inventory. \let 
Prepaid Corporate Income Taxes 
Prepaid Expenses and Other 
Notes Receivable 

Increase (Decrea~e) 111. 

Accountc; Payable and Accrued Expenses 
Corporate Income Taxes Payable 
Patronage Rebates Payable 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES· 
Additions to Property and Equipment 
Book Value of Property and Equipment Disposed, '!et 
Addition to Goodwill 
(Increase) Decrease in Investments. 'Jet 

CASH FLOWS rRO/\1111\A \JCING AC'TIVITIFS. 
l\cw Borrowings: 

Notes Payable• I .ines of Credit 
Long- fcrm Debt 

Debt Reduction. 
Notes Payable • Lines of Credit 
l.011g-Term Dehl 

Increase (Decrease) in Minorit) Interest 
Proceeds From Common Stock Subscriptions 
Proceeds From Issuance of Preferred Stoel-. 
Proceeds From Dwidend Reinvestment in Preferred Stock 
Redemption of Preferred Stock 
Redemption of Common Stock 
Preferred Stock Dividend Paid 
Change in Foreign Currency Translation 

NET !~CREASE (DECREASE) 11' CASH 

CASH· BEGINNING 
CASH· ENDING s 

See Notes to Consolidated rinancial Statements 
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2022 2021 

574.612 s 1,987,101 

37,000 (62,000) 

73-t.859 926,295 
39,430 

(2,041,452) 

624.477 1,055.491 
(2.401.387) 2.108,799 

(5,636) (83,998) 
(528,805) 281.912 

35,000 

(690.133) 1,215.063 
105,712 (179,476) 

(645,400) 592,104 
(2,194.701) 5,874.269 

(600,894) (201,716) 
98,276 

( 18, 1 R8 ) 
(197,420) 5.000 
(816,502) (98,440) 

8,942.000 10,346,966 
35.000 

(6,393,947) (13,396,050) 
(125,501) (853,066) 

I (5.497) 

3 1,882 43,527 
392,007 90,319 
407.003 405,098 

(I , 1 13,68-5) (438,922) 
(43.492) (76.357) 

(661 .07]) (656,241) 
(24,203) (12, 178) 

1.445.992 (4,552.383) 

(1,565,211 ) 1,223.446 

2,536,886 1,313,440 
971 ,675 s 2,536,886 



EQUAL EXCHANGE. NC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED S l'ATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS EI\DED DECE\IBl~.R 31. 2022 A 'JD 2021 
(CONTl'\JUED) 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF C AS\ I FLOW INFOR~1ATIO:-.. 

2022 
Cash Paid During The Year For: 

Interest $ 392,185 
Income Taxes $ 169,752 

Schedule ofl\:oncash Investing Transactions: 
Investment Loss on Foreign Currency Translation $ (24,203) 

Right of Lse Asset - Leases $ 141,027 
Assumed Lease Liability (141,027} 

$ 

See Notes to Consolidated Financi.il Statement~ 
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2021 

$ J 15,061 
$ 491,122 

$ (12,178) 

$ 

$ 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME:'ffS 

A. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY or SIGNIFICANT ACCOl'"fflNG POLICIES: 
1. Principles of Consolidation • The consolidated financial st;itements indude 1he accounts of Equal 

Exchange, Inc., its majority-owned subsidiary OKE l "SA Fruit Company, and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
EE Wholesale {UK) LTD (the Company). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have 
been eliminated in these consolidated financial statements. 

2. Organization • Equal Exchange. Inc. was organized under the General Laws of 1hc Commonwealth of 
Massachusclls as a worker cooperative and commenced opc:rations in 1986. All voting stock is owned by 
employees of Equal Exchange, Inc., each of whom is limited to one share. Equal Exchange, Inc. distributes 
a portion of its annual profits to the worker-owners ,1s a patronage reb:lte. Worker-owners may decide to 
extend membership to an employee after one year of service. Equal l:.xchange, Inc. also offers non-voting 
preferred stock, which pays a variable. noncumulative annual dividend. targeted at five percent of the value 
of the preferred stock. 

OKE USA Fruit Company was incorporated under the laws of the state ofDe!.1ware on May 18. 2006. 

EE Wholesale (lJK) LTD was incorporated under the laws of the Registrar of Companies for England and 
Wales on April 24, 2017. 

3. Operations - Equal Exchange, Inc. is engaged in the manufacturing and distribution of coffee, tea, cocoa, 
chocolate, and related products nationally, with its main office located at 50 United IJrive, West 
Bridgewater. Massachusetts. Equal Exchange, Inc. was formed to establish equitable trade relationships 
between small farmers around the world and U.S. consumers. Equal Exchange, Inc. buys green coffee 
beans directly from farmers' cooperatives and imports the coffee to the l nited States. Equal Exchange. Inc. 
pays a price that covers the cost of production, provides farmers a living wage. and includes a social 
premium to the cooperative, m accordance with internationally established fair trade practices. ·1 ea, cocoa. 
and chocolate are also purchased acco rding to fair trade practices. Equal Exchange. Inc. performs coffee 
roasting and pad.aging productron al its Wes t Bridgew.1tcr. Massachusetts facility. In addition. 1:qual 
Exchange. Inc. contracts for coffee roasting, cocoa. and chocolate manufacturing and product packaging. 
and sells and distributes its products nationally through distributors, retail stores, restaurants, and solidarity 
organizations. ro better serve its cu~tomers, Equal Exchange. Inc purchases and loans coffee grinders, 
brewers, and retail display equipment to its customer~. 

OKE USA Fruit Company wholesales produce to customers in the United States while establishing a model 
for international trade that fosters farmer ownership. fair trade practices, and environmental protection. 

EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is based in the UK and rs focused on maintaining relationships with small farmer 
cooperatives while trying to build demand for authentic fair trade in a country where the concept has been 
taken over by large players. EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is concentrating on selling to independent natural 
food stores and small chains. 

4. Functional Currency Translation - The tilnctional currency of EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is the Pound 
Sterling(£). The assets and liabi Ii ties of the UK sub~id,.iry are trnnsh11t!d at year-end rates of exchange, und 
the consolidated statements of earnings and comprchcnsh,e income (loss) accounts arc translated at 
weighted-average rates of the exchange for the period The resulting translation adjustments arc reported as 
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income within stockholders· equity. Net foreign 
currency translation gains (losse~) ,ncludecl in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive 
income (loss) amounted to ($24,201) and ($1 2.178) for the years ended December 3 I. 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. 

g 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED .Fl~ANCIAL STA l'EMENTS 

(Continued) 

A. ORGANIZATION AND SU:\-1MAHY OF SIGNIFICA '-T ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continu~d) 
5. Method of ,\ccounting - The Company 's policy is to prcp,1rc its consolidated· financial statements on the 

accrual method of accounting whcn:b} revenues arc recognized when earned and expenses arc recognized 
when incurred. This method of accounting conforms 10 generally accepted accounting principles. 

6. Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations 
of credit risk consist primarily of deposits 111 excess of federally insured limits, accounts receivable, and 
credit guarantees for certain vendors. These risks arc managed by maintaining all deposits in high quality 
financial institutions, obtaining signed ~ales order~. andtor establishing credit limits with all customers. and 
obtaining signed contracts with vendor~. Management believes that the Company is not exposed to any 
significant credit risk as a result of the~<! credit concentrations. 

7. Cash and Cash Equivalenls - For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows. the Company 
considers all highly liquid investments available for current use with an initial maturit} of three months or 
less to be cash equivalents. 

8. Inventory - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost tfirst-in, first-out) or market. 

9. Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs are 
charged lo expense as incurred whereas major betterments an: capitalized. Depreciation is computed using 
the straight-line method over three to thirt) -ninc ,cars. 

JO. Intangible Assets - Intangible assets subject to amortization include capitalized software and development 
costs, all of which are amortized using the s traight-line method over seven to ten years. 

11. Revenue and Cost Recognition - In May 2014. the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued 
Accounting Standards Update ( "ASU'') 20 I 4-09. Revenue From Contracts with Customers (''ASU 20 14-
09''). which is aimed at creating common revenue recognition guidance for GAAP and the International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). This new guidance provides a comprehensive model tc,r entities 
to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts "ith customers and supersedes most current revenui: 
guidance issued by the FASB. ASU 2014-09 also requires both qualitative and quantitative disclosures. 
including descriptions of performance obligations. 

Effective January I, 2019. the Company adopted ASlJ 2014-09 and all related amendments ("ASC 606") 
and applied its provisions lo all uncompleted contracts using the modified retrospective basis. The 
application of this new revenue recognition standard resulted in no adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained i:arnings. 

Performance Ob/igalions - Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when, or as, the Company 
satisfies its perfonnance obligations by transferring goods or si:rvices to customers. A good or service is 
transferred to a customer when. or as. the customer obtain~ control of that good or service. A performance 
obligation may be satisfied over time or at a point in time. Revenue from a performance obligation 
satisfied at a point in time is recogniLcd at the point in time that the Company determines the customer has 
obtained control over the promised good or service. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the 
consideration of which the Company expects to he entitled in exchange for the promised goods or services. 

9 



EQUAL EXCIIA 'iGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CO'iSOLmATED Fl'iANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

A. ORGANIZATIO:'lii AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 
The following prnv1dcs de1ailed information on the recognition of the Company's revenue from contracts 
with customers: 

Product Sales - The Company is engaged in the manufacturing and distribution of cotTce, tea. cocoa. 
chocolate, and related products. Revenue on the sale of these products is recognized when orders are 
shipped. 

The following table disaggregates the Compm1} ·s revenue based on the liming of satisfaction of 
performance obligations for the year ended December 31. 2022: 

Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point in 1 ime 
Perfonnance Obligations Satisfied Over Time 

Total Revenue 

S 69.301,450 

S 69,301,450 

12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Compan} 's financial instruments include cash and cash 
equivalents. accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts payable. accrued expenses, notes payable, and 
Jong-term debt. The recorded values of cash and cash equivalents. accounts receivable. accounts payable, 
accrued expenses. and notes payable approximate their fair values based on their short-term nature. The 
recorded values of notes receivable and long-term debt approximate their fair values, as current interest 
rates approximate market rates. 

13. Freight - The Company includes freight in as a component of inventory and freight out as part of cost of 
sales. 

14. Income Taxes• The Company exists, for income tax purposes, as three separate enlities: Equal Exchange, 
Inc., OKF. USA Fruit Company, and EE Wholesale (UK) LTD. Federal and state income taxes are provided 
based upon earnings and tax rates applicable to the Company using the method of accounting described 
above. 

EE Wholesale (UK) LTD is obliged lo file income tax returns within the United Kingdom. 

Deterred income taxes arc provided for differences in timing in reporting income for consolidated financial 
statement and tax purposes arising principally from differences in the methods of accounting for 
allowances for bad debts, accrued absences. and depreciation. Bu<l debts are reported for tax purposes on 
the direct write-otT method and for consolidated financial statement purposes on the allowance method. 
Accrued absences are reported for tax purposes on the cash method and for consolidated financial statement 
purposes on the accrual method. Depreciation is reported for tax purposes over shorter periods of time and 
at a more accelerated rate than the method for consolidated financial statement purposes. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities an: classified as current or non-current in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets, based upon classification of the related asset or liability. 

15. Uncertainty In Income and Other Taxes - The Company adopted the standards for Acco1111ting for 
U11cc:rtai11ty in Income foxes (income. sales. use. and payroll), which requires the Company to report any 
unce11ain tax positions and 10 adjust its consolidated financial statements for the impact thereof. As of 
December 31. 2022 and 2021, the Company dctermined that it had no tax positions that did not meet the 
'·more I ikely than not" threshold of being sustained by the applicable tax authority. The Company tiles tax 
and information returns in the United States Federal, Massachusetts and other state jurisdictions. These 
returns are generally subject to examination by tax authorities for the last three years. 

10 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, l='iC. AND Sl"BSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINA ~CIAL STATEME:"ITS 

(Continued) 

A. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF' SIGNIFICA~T ACCOU~TING POI.JCIF.S: (Continued) 
16. General and Administrative Expenses - These expenses arc charged to operations as incurred and arc not 

allocated to cost of sales. 

17. Use of Estimates • The preparation of consolidated financial statements m conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly. actual results could differ from those estimates. 

18. Patronage Rebates - The By-Laws of Equal Exchange. Inc require it to make a patronage rebate to each 
worker-owner, based on its current year profit. According!)'. the Compan:, account~ for patronage rebates 
as an increase in operating expenses in the current year. 

19. Debt Issuance Costs - The Company has adopted the requirements in FASB ASC 835-30 to present debt 
issuance costs as a reduction on the carrying amount of the debt rather than as an asset. The costs are 
amortized using the interest method over the life of the debt. Amortization of debt issuance costs for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was zero and $1 J, 731. respectively, and is reported in interest 
expense on the consolidated statements of earnings. 

20. New Accounting Standard Adopted - Effective January I, 2022, the Company adopted Accounting 
Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, I.eases (ASC Topic 842) and subsequent amendments. ASC 842 affects 
all companies that enter into lease arrangements. with certain exclusions under limited scope limitations. 
Under ASU 2016-02, an entity recognizes right-of-use assets and lease obligations on its balance sheet for 
all leases with a lease term of more than 12 months. Short-term rentals under year-to-year leases or 
remaining lease terms of 12 months or less arc exempt from being c.tpitalized 

In adopting the new lease standard, the Company elected to use a transition method under which existing 
leases \\ere measured and capitalized as of the date of adoption, January I, 2022. in lieu of applying the 
standard rctrospcct1vcly to January I, 2021. Comequently. the 2021 consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures do not reflect the effects of implementing the new lease standard. 

Additionally. as part of the implementation. the Compal!} elected to use a package of optional practical 
expedients v.hich permit the Company to a\>oid n:a!>sessing previous kase identifications within contracts, 
the c:>..istence of initial direct costs. and the lease classifications of any expired and existing leases. 
\foreover, in .tccordancc with the expedients. all leases classified as operating leases under previous U.S. 
Genenill> Accepted Accounting Principles (IJ.S. GAAP) are automatically classified as operating leases 
under the new standard, and all lea~es previously cla,si ficd as capital leases are recorded as finance leases. 

Leases recogni1.ed under the new standard include leases that were not capitalized under previous l , .S. 
GAAP, as well as certain other leases that were c;apitali;:ed based on different GAAP criteria. 

On January 1. 2022. the Company recorded on its consolid.ited balance shcr.:t a right-of-use asset and lease 
obligation for operating leases in the amount of S 141,027. 

2 I. Lease Policies • The new standard requires that leases with a lease term of more than 12 months be 
classified as either finance or operating leases I ea~es are classitied as finance leases when the Company 
expects 10 consume a major part of the economic bent:lit~ of the leased assets over the remaining lease 
term. Conversely, the Company is not expected to consume a major part of the economic benefits of assets 
classified as operating leases. The Company h.is made a policy election not to capitalize certain short-term 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. 
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EQUAL F.XCHANGE, INC. AND Sl'BSIDIARIES 
NOTl::S TO CO~SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATHIF.NTS 

(Continued) 

A. ORGANIZATION A;-..D SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOll~TING POLICIF.S: (Continued) 
The lease classification affects hoth the pattern and presentation of expense recognized in the consolidated 
stalemcnl of earnings, the categorization of assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, and 
classification of cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash tlows. 

For finance leases, total h:ase cost is recorded on an accelerated basis and consists of two components; 
amortization expense related tu the writc•off of right-of-use assets. and interest expense from lease 
obligations. Interest expense is recorded using the effective interest method and right-of-use assets are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. For operating leases. total lease cost is 
measured and re<.:orded on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Non-lease components, such as common area maintenance (CAM) charges, are separated from lease 
components based on the terms of the related lease. Variable lease components consist of real estate 1axes 
and insurance charges related to the real estate lease. and are recorded as lease expen,e as incurred. 

Lease obligations are measured and recorded at the present value of future lease payments using a discount 
rate. The Company has made an accounting policy election to use a risk-free rate as the discount rate in 
measuring its lease obligations. Linder this election. the risk-free rate used is the rate for a United States 
Treasury instrument with a term consistent with the remaining lease 1erm of a applicable lease. This 
election is made for all real estate leases. 

The Company has elected to use a portfolio approach to apply a single incremental borrowing rate of 4°'o 
on its real estate leases. Right-of-use assets are generally measured and recorded al the sum of the lease 
obligation. any initial direct costs to consummate the lease, and any lease payments made on or before the 
commencement date. 

B. ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS: 
The Company utilizes the allowance method to account for uncollectiblc account, receivable balances. Cnder 
the allowance method, an estimate of unco llec1iblc customer balances is made based on the Compan) ·s prior 
history and other factors such as the credit quality of the customer and economi<.. conditions of the market. 
Based on these factors. at December 31 . 2022 and 2021. there was an allowance for doubtful accounts or 
$200,000. 

C. INVENTORY, NET: 
Inventory consists of the following as of December 3 I.: 

Unprocessed green coffee beans. bananas and avocados 
Processed coffee, tea, cocoa, chocolate, snacks and supplies 
Less: Obsolescence Reserve 

D. PROPERTY AND EOUIPMF.NT, NET: 
Property and Equipment consists of the following as of December 31.: 

Land 
Building and Improvements 
Coffee Roasting and Packaging Equipment 
Furniture. Fixtures, Equipment and Software 

Accumulated Depreciation 

12 

2022 

SI 1,&67,619 
16,617,933 

(270,480) 

$ 2!!.215,072 

2022 
S 501,688 

6.098,851 
6.671,157 
5.231 ,682 

I !!.504.378 
( 12,450,267) 

$ 6,054, 111 

2021 
$ 12,037,487 

13,850,756 
(74,558) 

$ 25,813,685 

202 1 
S 501.6&8 

6 ,098,851 
6,644,547 
4,860,517 

18.106,603 
( 11 ,919.996) 

S 6,186.607 



F.QUAL EXCHANGE, l~C'. AND Sl'BSIDIARIF.S 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATF.D fl NANCI .\L STATF.ME.NTS 

(Continued) 

E. GOODWILL., ~ET: 
Goodwill consists ofthc following as of December 31,. 

Goodwill. Net of Accumulated Amortization of $1,-169 and 
zero in 2022 and 2021. respectively. 

2022 

s 16.719 

2021 

s 

During 2022. the Company acquired certain assets of a comp,111) including fixed assets and inventory. The 
asset purchase price was S 181. 725 of which S 121.1 15 \I as allocated Ill fixed assets, S42.448 was allocated to 
inventory, and S18.188 was allocated to goodv.ill. Goodwill will be amortized on a straight-fine basis over ten 
years. 

F. l~VESTMENTS, NF.T: 
The Company holds investments in various other similar, fair-trade or socially consciou~ organiLations . .\II 
investments are carried at the lower of cost or estimated market value Investments consist of the following at 
December3I,: 

Liberation Foods. Community Interest Company. UK 
C'ERO Cooperative, Inc. - 200 Preferred Shares 
1':ational Cooperative Bank N. A., Federal Savings Bank -
220 Shares Class B 
Real Pickles Co-op - Preferred Stock 
LaSiembra - 11,843 Shares Class A and 782 Shares Class C 
Dorchester Food Coop 
STARTCOOP LCA 
First Field LLC 
General Reserve 

G. NOTES RECEIVABLE: 
Notes Receivable consist of the following at December 31.: 

6 .00°0 Pronussory Note Receivable - La Sicmbra: 
Interest only payments to July, 2025. This note i~ 
collateralized by certain mtellcetual proper!) 
of the borrower 

ll 

2022 2021 
$ 1,360 $ 1,360 

5,000 5,000 

2 1.997 21.997 
5,000 5,000 

212.323 192.323 
10.000 10,000 
5,000 5.000 

177.420 
(31,024) (31.024) 

$ 407,076 s 209,656 

2022 2021 

S 325.000 $ 325,000 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

II. NOTES PAYABLE - LINF.S OF CREDIT: 
Equal Exchange, Inc. has a $550,000 unsecured rolling credit facility with Shared Interest, a socially 
responsible organization based in the United Kingdom. The purpose of this credit facility is to finance 
purchases from small farmer associations approved by Shared Interest. Under the terms of this credit facility, 
Shared Interest pays producers for coffee shipped to the Company. The Company is required to repay Shared 
Interest in full within five months following the settlement dale. Advances bear interest at the borrowing rate of 
Shared Interest, plus one percent, 7.75% and 7.75% at December 3 I, 2022 and 2021. respectively. This credit 
facility may be terminated upon 180 days' notice. At December 31. 2022 and 2021, the outstanding balances on 
this rolling credit facility amounted to zero and $96,947, respectively. 

Equal Exchange. Inc. had a $500,000 secured line of credit with Eastern Bank. The line of credit bears interest 
nt the bank's prime lending rate and is secured by certificates of deposit held by Eastern Bank that are owned by 
individuals and institutions affiliated with the Company. TI1e Company can borrow up to ninety percent of the 
face value of the certificates of deposit. During 2021, the line of credit was closed. At December 31, 2022 and 
2021, there were no borrowings on this line of credit. 

Equal Exchange, Inc. has a $1,500,000 line of credit with National Cooperative Bank N. A. This line of credit 
bears interest at the bank's prime rate plus fifty basis points and is secured by accounts receivable. At December 
31, 2022 and 2021, there were no borrowings on this line of credit. 

Equal Exchange, Inc. has a $5,000,000 line of credit with Eastern Bank. This line of credit bears interest at the 
bank's prime lending rate and is secured by the Company's inventory. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the 
outstanding balances on this line of credit amounted to $2,645,000 and zero, respectively. 

OKE USA Fruit Company has a $500,000 line of credit with Eastern Bank. This line of credit bears interest at 
the bank's base rate and is secured by substantially all assets of OKE USA Fruit Company At December 31. 
2022 and 2021, there were no borrowings on this line of credit. 

I. LONG-TERM DEBT: 
Long-Tenn Debt consists of the following at December 31,: 

4.50% Note Payable - Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation: 
Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon payment 
due May, 2023. 

4.50% Note Payable - Cooperative Fund of NE: 
Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon payment 
due April, 2024. 

5.00% Note Payable - Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation: 
Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon payment 
due May, 2024. 

4.50% Mortgage Note Payable - RSF Social Enterprise: 
Due in monthly installments of$ I 1,254 including 
interest through June, 2024. 
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$ 

2022 2021 

100,000 100,000 

500,000 500,000 

100,000 100,000 

1.575,392 1,637,563 



EQUAL F.XCHANGF:, l~C. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTF.S TO COl'iSOLIDATED FINA!\CIAL S'J A rEME:'liTS 

(Continued) 

I. LONG-TERM DEBT: (Continued) 

4.14% Note Payable - Eastern Bank: 

3.00% 
to 

5.00% 

Due in monthly inslallments of SI 0.220 mclud111g 
interest through June, 2027. 

Notes Payable - Various Individuals and Institutions: 
Due in annual or semi-annual intc:rcst-only pa:,-menls. with 
balloon payments due at varying maturity dntes through 
December. 2027. 

3.00% Note Payable - DCS Trust: 
Due in annual interest-only payments with a balloon pa:,-ment 
due March, 2035. 

Current Portion 

Long-Term Debt. Net of Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs 

202:! 

1,345,000 

3,000,000 

7.157.337 
(536,148) 

$ 6.621.189 

2021 

600,275 

1,310,000 

3.000.000 

7.247.838 
(711 ,242) 

s 6,536,596 

On April I 5. 2020. the Company received loan proceeds from Eastern Bank in the amounts of $1,885.308 and 
$130.445 under the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP''). On July 21. 2021 and June 4, 202 l, the Company 
was granted forgiveness from the Small Business Administration (SBA) for the full loan balances ofSl.885,308 
and accrued interest of $24,195 and $130,445 and accrued interest of $1.504, respectively. The SBA has 
remitted the payments noled above for forgiveness to Eastern Bank. In accordance v.ith ASC 470, Debt, the 
forgiven debt was recorded as a gam on extinguishmenl of debt. and was presented in the other income ~cction 
of the consolidated statements of earnings for the year ended December JI. 2021. 

The following is a schedule by years of the aggregate maturities of indebtedness at Oecember 31.: 

2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 and Thereafter 

J. LEASE OBLIGATIONS: 

$ 536.148 
2.594. 118 

702.090 
80,824 

3.244,157 

S 7,157.337 

The Company leases distribution space in Massachusett~ The terms of the lease provide for monthly base rent 
payments over three years in amount ofS I. 900 through Febntary 2024. 

The Company leases distribution space in California. The terms of the lease provide for monthly base rent 
payments over three years in amounts ranging from S 1,877 to $1.992 through April 202-1-. 

The Company leases distribution space in Ohio. The terms of the lca~c provide for monthly hase rent payments 
over three years in amount of$1.100 through May 2024. 

In addition, the Company has various leases with leas~ tc:rms of less than 12 months. Total rent expense for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 202 l amounted to $440,531 and $382,844. respectivdy. 
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EQl.Al. EXCIIA\'.GE, l',C. A 't;D SllBSIDIARIES 
NOTl.-'.S 10 CO~SOLIDArlW Fli'\ANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

.J. Ll-:ASF. OBLIGATIONS: (Continued) 
The following is a l,Chedulc by years of the future minimum rental payments as nf December 31.: 

2023 
2024 

Les~ effects of present value 
Lease obligations recorded at December 31. 2022 
Lesl. current portion 
Long-term lease obligations 

K. MINORITY INTEREST IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES: 

s 

$ 

64,674 
37,968 

102,642 
(26,337) 
76,305 

(62.844) 
13,461 

An ownership interest of 7.5% rn the subsidiaries is held by unrelated parties. !'his rnterest. reflected on the 
consolidated balance sheets as a separate line item. 1s the summation of the net investments made by these 
unrelated parties plus their proportionate share of the inception-to-date earnings and loss. and is not necessarily 
reflective of its market value. 

L. CAPITAL STRUCTl'RE: 
I . Preferred Stock 
The Company has a single class of non-voting Class B preferred stock. These shares have a par value of$! and 
a face value of $27 .50, and are sold to individuals and organizations ·1 he Company pays annual cash dividends. 
targeted at five percent of the face \-alue of the preterre<l stock. The actual amount is declared annually b) the 
Doard of Directors based on Company performance. The diddcnd 1s non-cumulative The preferred shares have 
a dissolution preference equal to their face value 

Stockholders owning preferred stock may. beginning two years after the original purchase date, sell !heir 
preferred stock back to the Company in accordance with the following schedule: 

Aller year 2 - at 70% of face value 
After year 3 - at 80% of face value 
After year 4 - at 90% of face value 
After year 5 - at 100% of face value 

In 2014, the Board of Directors authorized and approved a Private Placement in which thc corporation intended 
to raise up to $5.000,000 through the sale of Class B Prefem:d Stock. A I though there were no offering). in place 
during these periods. the Company did record the fol lowing transactions in 2022: Issued 14,800 shares valued at 
$407,003 in reinvested dividends and converted fifty percent of its Patronage distribution to 14.255 shares 
valued at $392.007. During 2021, the Company recorded the following transactions: Issued 14,73 1 shares 
valued at $405,098 in reinvested dividends and converted fill) percent of its Patronage distribution to 3.285 
shares valued at $90.339. Redemptions for 2022 ancl 2021 were 40.507 shares \alued at S 1.113,685 and I 5,961 
shares valued at $438,922, respectively. 

All stock subscription agreements referred to above were executed in accordance with the rules and regulations 
under Section J(b) of Regulation D, Rule 506 of the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the 
Securities Act of 1933. 

The Company has the option of making the redemptions described above by 1:onvcrting the preferred shares tu 
live-year, five percent promissory notes. 
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EQUAL EXCHANGF., JNC. AND Sl BSIDIARIF.S 
NOTES TO CO~SOLIDATIW Fl~Ai\CIAL STATE\1F.NTS 

(Continued) 

L. CAPITAL STRUCTliRf.: (Continued) 
If at any time the debt-to-e4uity ratio of the Company (defined as the Company's total liabilities divided b1 the 
Company's total stockholders' equity) exceeds 2: I, the Roard of Oirectors may postpone or refuse a request for 
redemption. In addition, if at any time the Board of Directors determines that a requested redemption would 
impair the ability of thc Company to operate effectively. the Board of Directors may limit. postpone or refuse 
the requested redemption. 

The face value of pr.:ferrcd stock, eligible for redemption under the terms described above. arc as follows for 
the year ending December .11,: 

2023 s 160,959 
2024 102,553 
2025 37,006 
2026 26,445 
2027 and Thereafter 345,031 

$ 671,994 

2. Common Stock 
The Company has a single class of voting Class A common stod., referred to as membership shares. Class A 
common shares have a $1 par value and are sold at a price equal to $2.000 per share. plus inflation since 1990. 
In 2022 and 2021. the price per share was $4.025 and S3.842. respectively. After one year's service, and absent 
denial of membership by 20% of the existing members. employees of the Company ma) purchase one 
membership share. No individual may own more than one membership share. 'lo dividends arc paid on the~e 
shares. but the employees who hold them are eligible for patronage rebates 

3. Common Stock Subscriptions Receivable 
Members usually choose to pay for their membership share through pa:,,roll deduction~ over several years The 
Company issues the membership share immediately and credits the common stock account for the full issue 
price of the share; unpaid amounts due from the member are recorded as Common Stock Subscriptions 
Receivable, which are separately renccted as a reduction to Stockholders· cq1111). 

4. Preferred Stock Transactions 

# of 
Shares 

Balance. December 31. 2020 627.836 

Shares issued for cash 3.285 
Dividends Reinvested 14,731 
Shares Redeemed and Other 
Adjustments {15.961) 

Balance. December 3 I, 2021 629.891 

Shares issued for cash 14.255 
Dividends Reinvested 14,800 
Shares Redeemed and Other 
Adjustments (40.497) 

Balance December 31. 2022 6 I 8.449 

17 

Par 
Value 

S 627.836 

],285 
14.731 

(15.961) 

$ 629.891 

14.255 
14,800 

(40.497) 

S 618.449 

Total 
Premium Paid In on 
Over Par Preferred 

Value Stock 
$ 16,637,661 $ 17,265,497 

87,054 90,319 
390,367 405,098 

(422,961 ) (438,9221 

S 16,692,12 1 S 17.322.012 

377.752 392.007 
392,203 407,003 

( 1.073 .188) (1.113.685) 

$ 16,388.888 $17,007.337 



EQUAL EXCHANGE, l'IC. AND Sl'BSIOIARIES 
NOTF.S TO CO:\SOLIDATED l<l~Ai'iCIAI. STATF.MF.NTS 

(Continued) 

L. CAPITAL STRUCTliRE: (Continued) 

M. 

The Roard of Directors has authorized and the articles have been amended to il1(.:reasc the number of both 
common and preferred shares to 500 and 9,999,500. respectively. 

5. Common Stock Transactions 
Tolal 

Premium Paid In on 
# of Par Over Par Common 

Shares Value Value Stock 
Balance. December 31. 2020 140 $ 140 s 456,219 $ 456,359 

Shares issued for subscriptions 
receivable 3 1 7,52.l 7,526 
Shares redeemed for cash (24) (24) (76.]3]) (76,357) 

Balance, Deeem ber 3 I, 2021 119 s 119 $ 387,409 $ 387,528 

Shares issued for subscriptions 
receivable 10 10 40,240 40,250 
Shares redeemed for cash ( 13) < n > (43.479) (43,492) 

Balance. December 31. 2022 116 $ 116 s 384.170 $ 384.286 

INCOME TAXES: 
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB t\SC 740. whereby deferred taxes are 
provided for temporary differences arising from assets and liabilities whose bases are different for financial 
reporting and income tax purposes. Deferred taxes relate primarily to differences in calculating depreciation on 
fixed assets and the timing of deductibility of certain olher operating expenses. 

N. PATRONAGE REBATES: 
The By-Laws of Equal Exchange. Inc. require it to make an annual patronage rebate to each worker-owner. The 
patronage rebate is calculated at forty percent of the net profit or loss, after state income taxes and preferred 
stock dividend payments, but before charitable donations and federal income taxes. The rebate is then adjusted 
to reflect the ratio of hours worked by worker-owners to hours worked by all employees. Each year, lhe Board 
of Directors determines the allocation of the patronage rebate between payments in cash versus deferral held in 
the worker-owners· capital accounts, subject to a requirement that at least twenty percent be paid in cash. 
Profits not paid as dividends on preferred stock or as patronage rebates are retained to capitalize the business, 
and are not allocated to nny individual worker-owners. For the years ended December 31. 2022 and 2021. 
patronage rebate expense amounted to $164.829 and $802.758. respectively. 

0. ADVERTISING AND BUSINl:SS PROMOTION: 
The Company follows the policy of charging the costs of advertising and business promotion to expense as 
incurred. For the years ended December 31 , 2022 and 2021 , advertising costs amounted to $1 ,304.899 and 
$1,184,404, respectively. 

P. CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS: 
The Company makes charitable contributions to unrelated tax exempt organizations that promote Fair Trade 
Industry activities. For the years ended December 31 , 2022 and 2021, charitable contributions amounted to 
$108.800 and SI0S,800, respectively. 
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EQUAL EXCHA~GE, l~C. A~D Sl 'BSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLJDATF.D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 

Q. GUARANTEE OF PRODl CER INDF.BTED~ESS: 
Shared lnlercst has commith:d up lo S550,000 for advances dircctl) to producers wilh conlracts to sell coffee to 
the Company. These advances arc limited 10 sixt) percent of the contract price, with a maximum amount per 
producer of $135,000, and are availdblc 10 producers up lo ten monlhs before coffee is delivered to the 
Company. The Company guarantt:es I 00% of the producer ,idvanccs made by Shared ln1erest. Al December JI. 
2022 and 2021, producer advances guaranteed by the Company amounted to zero and S24.237, respectively. 
During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 202 1. the Company did not incur losses related to guaranteed 
producer advances. 

R. RETIRE:\1F.NT PLAN: 
The Company sponsors a Safe Harbor 401(1..) Rellrement Plan for its cllg1blc employees. l'o become cl igible for 
the Plan, an employee must have completed one full )ear or continuous employment. For the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company contributed 1% of each eligible employee's annual compensation. 
For the years ended December 3 1, 2022 and 202 1, the Company's contribution to this plan totaled $202.312 and 
S21 I ,562, respectively. These amounts are included in Payroll Taxes and l:.mployee Benefits. 

S. MAJOR CUSTOMER: 
For the year ended December 31 , 2022 the Company had no major cu~tomers. 

For the year ended December JI , 2021. the Company had one: major customer, to which sales accounted for 
approximately 12° o of the Company's revenue A1 December 31 , 202 1. accounts receivable from this customer 
represented approximate!} 9°0 of the total account~ 1ecc1vable balance 

T. SlJBSEOllKNT EVENTS: 
Management has evaluated events occurring after the consolidated balance sheet date through April 26, 2023. 
the date in which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. No material events have 
been identified which would require disclosure. 
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a.LMHS,P.C. 

Crrrtjird P111,/,c A , 011111,1•111 ,md , ldt r,,m 

To The Stoc!,.holdcrs 
Equal Exchange. Inc. 
West Bridgewater. Massachusetts 

INDFPEJ\DE'1T AUDITORS' REPORT 
O'>l WPPLE\1ENTARY 11\FOR\t!ATION 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Equal Exchange. Inc. and Subsidiaries as of and for the 
}ears ended December 31. 2022 and 2021. and have issued our report thereon dated April 26. 2023, \\hich 
contained an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. Our aucl11s were performed for the 
purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

The supplementary information is presented for the purpo5e~ of additional analysis and is not a required part of 
the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements. The infom1ation has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the 
consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial 
statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America In our opinion, the information ,~ 
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

LMH~. 1-'.C 
Norwell, Massachu<;etts 

April 26. 2023 

IIOWashington Srrw, lluil,lin~ S, Norwcll. l\•l.1s>a,hu,c1t, 02061 (781) 878-'ll 11 fX (781) A78 %66 
www lml1<pc.com _ AICPA) 



EQUAL EXCHANGE. INC. AND SUBSIOIAIW·S 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

YEARS ENDED DEO:MBER JI. 2022 AND 2021 

( 01'SOLIDATED SCI-IEDL'LES OF COST OF SALES. 
Purch<1ses 
Fre1ghl 
Other Direct Costs 
Packaging and Relabeling 
Uulitie~ 
Wart:housc Occupancy Costs 
Depreciation 

CQ1'S0LIDATED SCI-IEDULES OF GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVF EXPE\J~l::S· 
Salaries and Wages 
Payroll Taxes and Employee Benefits 
Advertising and Business Promotion 
Certification Fees 
Charitable Contributions 
Consulting Expense 
Contracted Services 
Credit Card Service Fees 
General and Adminis1ra1ivc 
Insurance 
Office Expense 
Patronage Rebates 
Payroll Processing Fees 
Postage 
Professional Fees 
Real Estate Taxes 
Rent 
Repairs and Maintenance 
Selling Expenses 
Telephone 
Utilities 
Amortization 
Depreciation 

2022 

s 43.196,439 
7,141.176 

222,945 
16,581 

200,106 
I 03,093 
202,439 

s 51,082,779 

s 8.317,56S 
2,381,973 
1,304,899 

120.401 
108,800 

500 
796,172 
382,369 
287,419 
190,797 

218.737 
l1!0.653 
14.250 
23,120 
76,'!.57 
84,899 

582.451 
718,474 
371,584 
I 81 ,253 
165.570 

1.469 
530,951 

$ 17.060,563 

See Independent Auditors' Report on Supplemental) Information 
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s 47,527,072 
6,246595 

148,253 
120,927 
378,448 

$ 54.421.295 

$ 7,968,794 
2,362,933 
1,184.404 

144.183 
105,800 
24,606 

751,216 
287,593 
366,423 
211,201 
282.819 
802,758 

30,065 
114,259 
55,210 

120.471 
440.531 
899 791 
126,737 
176.740 
157.528 

13.0l 3 
514,834 

s 17,181,909 



CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash 
AccounL, R~cc1vahle. ~~l 
hwcn,.,ry. Ncl 
Prepaid C-,rpornlc Income Tuts 
Prcf"'id f.xp,:nsc, and Olhcr 
DcfcrreJ lncon,c Ta~~s 

PROPERTY ANI> f.Ql 11P\lf-l\T 
Land 
Bu,ldini and lmpro,cm.:n1s 
Coffee Roasung and Pacl•giny r quipmcnl 
Furnitun:. Fixtures. Eqtupmi,:nt ::mJ SoOwan: 

Aceumula1cd Dcprcc,auon 

OTHER ASSETS 
Right of Use As<el - Leases 
hl\ cstmcn1s, Ne1 

Goodwill. !\ct 
Notes Receivable 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Notes Pn) able - Lmes o t Credit 
Currenc Portion of long-Term Debt 

Currcn1 Portion of L<asc L1abihty 
A~counts f>3yabte and Accru"-d Expcm)~S 
Corpor-.re Income Tows ra,abk 
Patronage Rebates rayable 

LO'\G-TERM LIABllll!FS 
Lo ng-Term Debi. Net of Currcn1 Portion. '\'ct of 

Unamort,ud D.:bt Issuance (osts 
Lca,c L1ab1lity. :--01 of Current Pon,on 

Deferred Income Ta~cs 

F.OUAI EX<.BANGF. INC ANO SUliSIDl,\Rl~S 
C0:-0SO1.ll>ATIWi !!,\LANCE Sllfl-TS 

DEc;I·MHI.R 31 •on 

EQUAL OKE USA 1:1· WIIOLESALI 

EXCHANGE INC. FRUIT CO\IPA~Y !.l.J.Kl..l.m 

ASSETS 

s 611 ,668 s 172.17') ~ I 87.<•18 
2.968.47() 1.017 96() 251.611 

r .016.,105 61U02 51J.U5 
S9.6H 

1.150.0S< 3S.R44 249.038 

J.15.000 
32.151.637 1.933.618 Ul!.15! 

50!.68S 
6.098.l:151 
C,.C,71.15" 
4.9"6()~, 111.450 114.157 

IS.168.771 111.450 124.157 

! I !.395.861 I (44.581 l (9.8!5) 
5,872.910 66.86<J 114.332 

76.105 

2.901.255 
16.719 

575 000 
3.552.5(,0 16.71'1 

s .u sn. 1O· s 2.000 49" s 1..\43.203 

LI.-\Bll lTIES A 'ID STOCKtfOl.DI R<;· EQUITY 

s 2.645,000 s s 
5.16.148 '50.000 

618-14 0 

3.917.618 166 137 292.804 

252.000 6,664 

164.829 

7.578,439 416.1}7 299.468 

6,621 .181) 788.764 
13.461 

I 100,000 
~.714.650 7SK7<>4 

MINORITY INTl:.REST I~ CO'-SOLIDATED SL BSIDIARIES 

STOCKHOLDERS' [QUITY 

Class A Share., 580 (,JI) 

Class B Share, I 75 000 

Class C Shares ,. 000 

Preferred Stock 17.007 137 

C -,n,,non Stock 384.286 80.678 

Less· Sul>scnp1,ons Rcccn ablc (32.396) 

Rctam.:J Eom,ngs 8.950.110 ~01.··1 l74.6S-I 

Accumulated 0th« Comprehens11c Income (Loss) (45.319) (391) 

26.264.018 1.584 360 254.971 
s 41 ~77.10' s ! 000.,19~ ~ 1.343 103 

CO'ISOLIDA TING CO'>;SOLIDATFD 

I '-TRIES BALA0CE SIIHT 

s s '171.(,75 

4 .238.06() 
28.215.072 

S9.6J4 
1.437,967 

J45.000 
35.297.41" 

502.688 
6,098.851 
6,671.15" 
5,131.682 

I S.504.31S 
( 12.450.267) 

6.054.111 

7(>.305 
(2.494.1 "9) 407.016 

16."]9 

(250.000) .125.000 
(2.74-1.171}) 825.100 

s c2 1-1-1.1 • 91 s -12.116 o1S 

s s l.645.000 
(250.000) 5'6.148 

62.844 
( 12.821) 4.363.738 

'58.664 
164.829 

(2(,2.81 1) ~.031.223 

/788.16-1) 6.611.189 
13.461 

1.100.000 
17RS.7<,4) ~-' J-1.650 

1-16.737 14(,.737 

(5SO 639) 
(175.000) 

12·.000) 
17.007,3)7 

(80,678) 18-1.286 
(32.396) 

(<176.4051 8,950,110 

391 (45.319) 

( 1.839.331) 26.264.0IS 
s (2.744 119) ~ 42.176.618 



NET SAi.ES 

COST OF S.-\Lf.S: 
Pun:h::i:1-~s 
freight 

Pa.:kasing onJ Rolal><:l'n; 
Othl!r Dircc-t Casis 
Uli1irics 
\\'i.m:housc Oc,:upancv Costs 
l>..:pri:i:iation 

GROSS PROFIT 

orrRATIKG EXPf.\Sf-S 
Salaries and\\ ages 
Payroll Taxes >od Empl,>) <C B<n<f1s 
Adn·ruung ;:ind B,mness rromo11on 
B:id Dob1 E,pcnse 
C<rt1tic.uto11 F":-
Charitable ContnbulKKL" 
Con,uhmg fap,nse 
Comractc<l s~rv1cc~ 
Crod11 Cord Serv,co Fees 
Ckn.:ral :tnd Adm1n1s&r"'U'-'C' 
lnsur:1ncc 
Olli« E•1><n« 
P;urnnagc Rdxucs 
Pa)toU Prut:t:i.\lllg Fe:c."I 

PO"ilagl!' 
Prof('~S:1onaJ }-('~ 

Rc.~:iil Est3t.:-T:u~s 
Rcn1 
Rcp:11,s and Maintenance 
Sdhng Expenses 
T,lophon., 

Ut1ht..:s 

Amort17.ation 
f>cprec1at1on 

E,IR1'11'GS <LOSS) ~RO~I OPERATIO::-.S 

OTIIER 1r-:c-o,11:. Al\0 n.xrt '1S[SI 
Gam fll s:,,) on (m cstmcnt 
lnttrcst Income 
Oth.:r ln.urne 
Eqmt} en L,rnmgs ofSubs1d1.;me"i 
lntcre~l Expense 
<iam t Losi-J on Fort1i n Curren\'~ Transa'-'ll0t1s: 

[QI Al.1.XCll•\'\c;J'., l'\L'. ,\1'.D SUOSIDl,\RH S 
('O]'SOI.II>ATINO ST,\ Tl:\lfNTS Of EAR1'11'<,S 

YEAR 1---:nrn l)ECJ:~HII· R 31. ~O!~ 

r:Qt:,\ L OKEIJSA 
1:XCll,\1'GE. 11'(' FRUIT CO\IP.-\1'Y 

s S! ~JS.I()(, I J.53!.SJ I 

12.ISS.103 10.019.NS 
.\.Sli'l.21~ 3.:'39.~54 

~00.IOC, 

I03.U•l.l 
~O~A.W 

'\6.~5l),l)53 IJ 55t),60:! 

J6,5S5,( ,1 <>n.239 

7.118.45' r,545-2 
~.217 .595 1~9.-83 
1.264.78- 1-.01~ 

I .l,559 

Sh.05Q Q(>.I(, 

IOKSOO 
500 

77h.5N 
J72.S6-1 q50, 

IS6.9<0 21.166 
1:'6.-4~ 23 719 
~O-l.i54 13 9S, 
18U.651 
2'1.9ll -l l I -i 

:23.10: I k 
SI IX I 

R-1.~•)<) 
546.346 10.0·-1 
' 0 7.8 I< 
3"UR4 
1 ·r.so-
I <5.688 

49X •r,~ 22 ~1)0 
(5.4X3 .1 0( qo .. _.,6!, 

1.101.452 5 4•3 

-18,620 
84.290 5 <32 

~L~41 

nxuon f (0,1)()4) 

1216 R0-11 (5.J',21 

E,IR1'11'GS (LOSS) BEFORI 1'1(0\11: T·\XES A'\D \111\0RITY l'ITERC:ST 8"4.648 II 

11\CO\tE TAXES 
Cum:n1 ~6.1.036 4 

DctCrr~J 17.UOO 
)00,0.'6 4 

f.ARl\11\GS <LOSS) IJCFORE ~11,0RITY !'1TERLST '7-1.612 7 

Ml'10Rln IKTEREST 1'1 EAR'1I\GS OF CONSOLI DA TEO SLBSll>I ~RIES 

'1ET EAR'11'1GS (LOSSI s 57-4.61:' s 7 

ff 11'1101.1:SAI.E CONSOI.IDATl1'G ('OSSOI.IIM TED 

!!.Jilllli E:-JTRIES EAR:-IINQS 

1.t>l3.50.~ s s ~9 . .101.450 

~)1.51<& 43.1% 439 
12.110 7.141 176 
165SI 16.SSI 

:!:!~q.u ~12,Q-15 
W0.106 
101,091 
zu:..4~9 

1.163.!~~ 51.0S2 7"<> 

h60.27'> IR,218.611 

:t+l.536 8.317565 
34_,95 DSl.973 
~3.100 UOJ.599 
I0.75J :?.i.311 

24.6% 120,401 
IOM,XOO 

500 
19.6'3 796,112 

382.369 
i9J03 2$7 419 
10.3}6 190 797 

~18 73• 
180.6~1 
34.250 
2),120 

25.0"1> ' 6 .257 
84,899 

26.031 582.•ISI 
10659 718.4 ' -I 

371.584 
3.J4(, 181.253 
9.882 165.5"0 
I 41,q 1.469 
9.XQ_l 530 'ISi 

633 40Q l7.0S-I.N76 

2C>.k70 1.133.795 

48,6~0 
89.82~ 

1.8411 1.849 
t~ 1,677) 

(392,JkSJ 
(260) (260) 

1.:IR9 (21.677) (252..1541 

2S J5Q (21.677) 881.441 

(, 788 269.828 
) 7.000 

6 7~x )()(> ~2X 

21.6' 1 (21,677) 574,613 

(I) fl) 

s 21.671 s (~1.6-8) s 574.612 


